FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/9/2025 3:15 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO.

Case #: 1041594

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NANCY JAMES, CHAPTER 7 TRUSTEE FOR THE BANKRUPTCY ESTATE OF MS. JESSICA I. LAKERU and MR. AKINWALE A. LAKERU,

and

VIEW POINTE ADULT FAMILY HOME, LLC, A WASHINGTON LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, UBI #603 584 188,

Respondents,

vs.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

JOSHUA SCHAER Assistant Attorney General WSBA #31491 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2042 OID #91019

I. INTRODUCTION

Correct application of the public duty doctrine, which this Court has repeatedly recognized as a focusing tool used to determine whether a defendant owes a duty to the public or to a particular individual, is essential to permit government agencies to perform their statutorily obligated functions protecting Washingtonians without the fear of tort liability. The public duty doctrine precludes liability for the performance of exclusive and inherent government functions without a private analogue.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this matter improperly eviscerates the public duty doctrine, contrary to this Court's opinions in *Norg*, *Mancini*, and *Beltran-Serrano* and published Court of Appeals precedent in *Zorchenko*.¹ The decision also

¹ Norg v. City of Seattle, 200 Wn.2d 749, 522 P.3d 580 (2023); Mancini v. City of Tacoma, 196 Wn.2d 864, 479 P.3d 656 (2021); Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma, 193 Wn.2d 537, 442 P.3d 608 (2019); Zorchenko v. City of Fed. Way, 31 Wn. App. 2d 390, 549 P.3d 743 (2024), review denied, 3 Wn.3d 1026, 559 P.3d 486 (2024).

threatens to encourage agency inaction in a variety of regulatory contexts to avoid increased liability exposure, consequently diminishing public safety. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(1), (2), and (4).

Here, the Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS) investigated the improper catheterization of vulnerable adults in two adult family homes (AFHs). As a result of these serious problems, DSHS revoked the AFHs' licenses and removed all residents. The AFHs' owner filed bankruptcy, and an administrative law proceeding ultimately overturned DSHS's revocation.

Thereafter, the bankruptcy trustee sued DSHS for negligence and other torts based solely on DSHS's regulatory conduct. DSHS obtained summary judgment on all claims because the trial court concluded the public duty doctrine barred the trustee's suit. But the Court of Appeals subsequently reversed that outcome, holding that DSHS owes a common law duty of reasonable care to a regulated entity in the performance of *any* of DSHS's statutory licensing activities.

As a result, and contrary to established precedent, DSHS and other agencies can be subjected to liability for negligence based on allegations that the agency failed to use reasonable care in pursuing its licensing or other regulatory obligations. The erroneous imposition of such liability is more likely when, as here, the agency's decision is overturned in an administrative proceeding and the agency is alleged to have engaged in a lawful act in a wrongful manner. Such expansive tort liability affects not only state agency action, but government regulation at the city and county level as well.

Accordingly, clear guidance from this Court on the application of the public duty doctrine and viability of negligence claims predicated on the performance of government regulatory functions is both needed and warranted. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1)- (2), (4). The Court of Appeals' decision should be reversed in part, summary judgment reinstated on the trustee's negligence claim, and the remainder of the trustee's claims remanded for further proceedings in the trial court.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

DSHS petitions for review of the unpublished decision James, Trustee for Estate of Lakeru v. State, No. 86077-1-I, 2025 WL 445070 (Feb. 10, 2025) (App. A). DSHS filed a motion for reconsideration, which the Court of Appeals denied on April 8, 2025. See Order (App. B).

III. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the public duty doctrine precludes tort liability against DSHS for its allegedly negligent conduct in performing statutory licensing duties that are owed to the public and not to an individual AFH owner?

2. Whether the public duty doctrine precludes tort liability against DSHS when it engages in exclusive and inherent government functions, such as statutory licensing activities, that have no private analogue?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. DSHS Exercised Its Statutory Licensing Responsibilities by Revoking Two Adult Family Home Licenses and Removing All Residents

Only DSHS is legislatively authorized to license and regulate AFHs. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 70.128.005(2) ("It is the legislature's intent that department rules and policies relating to the licensing and operation of [AFHs] recognize and accommodate the different needs and capacities of the various populations served by the homes."), .040(1) ("The department shall adopt rules and standards with respect to [AFHs] and the operators thereof to be licensed under this chapter to carry out the purposes and requirements of this chapter.").

The Legislature obligates DSHS to promote a humane, safe, and residential environment for vulnerable AFH residents, and it provides DSHS with the power to issue, suspend, or revoke an AFH license, among other enforcement actions. *See, e.g.,* RCW 70.128.005(4) (legislative finding that there is "a compelling interest in developing and enforcing standards that promote the health, welfare, and safety of vulnerable adults residing in [AFHs]."), .007(1) ("The purposes of this chapter are to ... [e]ncourage the establishment and maintenance of [AFHs] that provide a humane, safe, and residential home environment for persons with functional limitations who need personal and special care[.]"); .160 (authority to impose civil penalties in response to noncompliance or violations). In selecting the appropriate remedy for an AFH's noncompliance with DSHS regulations, "the health, safety, and well-being of residents must be of paramount importance." RCW 70.128.160(7).

DSHS licensed Jessica Lakeru to operate two AFHs in Renton, Washington. CP 186. In 2019, DSHS identified noncompliance with regulations at both homes related to the catheterizations of multiple vulnerable adult residents, which DSHS determined placed these individuals at risk of health complications and demonstrated a serious disregard to their health, welfare, and safety. CP 151-84. For example, following one catheter change, a resident was hospitalized due to blood in his urine. CP 156, 193.

In response to the identified non-compliance, DSHS revoked both AFHs' licenses and removed all residents. CP 193. Lakeru and her husband then filed a Chapter 7 bankruptcy. *E.g.*, CP 33.

B. Administrative Tribunals Reversed DSHS's License Revocations

Lakeru appealed the license revocations to the Office of Administrative Hearings. CP 186. In 2020, an administrative law judge (ALJ) agreed with DSHS that Lakeru had "failed to provide the care and services required under WAC 388-76-10400(4)" at both AFHs. CP 187. However, the ALJ also found that DSHS did not prove that Lakeru had neglected the residents in her care or failed to provide care and services required under WAC 388-76-10400(3)(a) or (b). CP 186-87. Thus, the ALJ reversed DSHS's decision making. CP 211-12. DSHS sought further review by the Board of Appeals. CP 218-48. In 2021, the Board ruled against DSHS on all issues; it affirmed the ALJ's decision regarding DSHS's lack of proof on neglect and reversed the ALJ's findings against Lakeru for failure to provide care and services as required by WAC 388-76-10400(4), meaning the AFHs could accept residents again without restrictions. CP 146.

C. The Trial Court Granted DSHS Summary Judgment and Concluded the Public Duty Doctrine Barred the Trustee's Claims

The Lakerus' Chapter 7 trustee, Nancy James, subsequently filed a lawsuit against DSHS in King County Superior Court on behalf of the bankruptcy estate and as manager of the AFHs. CP 9-13. The trustee alleged that DSHS committed negligence in the performance of its statutory responsibilities under RCW 70.128, intentionally interfered with a business expectancy and contractual relations, and violated the Consumer Protection Act. CP 9-13. Of note, the trustee, in setting forth her negligence claim, alleged that DSHS "has a statutorily mandated

duty to regulate and manage adult family homes through RCW 70.128 *et seq*" and "has a duty to conduct reasonable investigations and to require such adult family homes to make necessary corrections of any violations pursuant to RCW 70.128.070." CP 10-11. DSHS denied liability. CP 19-20.

The parties presented cross-motions for summary judgment. CP 24-55, 270-92. In support of her partial motion for summary judgment, the trustee argued that collateral estoppel barred DSHS from raising certain affirmative defenses and that DSHS was not entitled to discretionary immunity or "immunity under the public duty doctrine." CP 34. The trustee argued that statutory and regulatory duties were owed to Lakeru and her facilities, as opposed to the public at large, i.e.: (1) the duty to provide an appropriate plan of correction, pursuant to WAC 388-76-10930; (2) the duty to conduct a revisit when DSHS orders a stop placement, pursuant to RCW 70.128.160(3); and (3) the duty to impose a sanction commensurate with the violations found, pursuant to WAC 388-76-10940. CP 54-55.

In its cross-motion, DSHS argued the trustee's claims were barred by the public duty doctrine, sovereign immunity, and/or qualified immunity, and even if those doctrines did not bar the suit, the trustee's claims for negligent investigation, tortious interference with business expectations and contractual relations, and Consumer Protection Act violations failed as a matter of law. CP 271. In response to DSHS's cross-motion, the trustee again reiterated her contention that DSHS's statutory duties were not owed to the public, but instead directly owed to Lakeru and the facilities subject to investigation. CP 314-15.

The trial court denied the trustee's motion for partial summary judgment. CP 410. In the same order, the trial court granted DSHS's motion for summary judgment on all claims, reasoning that the public duty doctrine barred recovery. CP 410.

D. The Court of Appeals Reversed Summary Judgment and Concluded the Public Duty Doctrine Did Not Apply

The trustee appealed from the summary judgment order. CP 412-13. While the Court of Appeals affirmed that collateral estoppel does not bar DSHS's defenses, it reversed the trial court's ruling "that the public duty doctrine bars Lakeru's common law claims against DSHS." *James*, 2025 WL 445070 at *1 (App. A) (Opinion).

The Court of Appeals reached the latter conclusion after analyzing *Norg* and *Mancini*. *Id*. at *3-4. It focused on the distinction between "misfeasance" and "nonfeasance," and then reasoned—despite failing to reference any specific statutes—that a common law duty of reasonable care arose in *Norg* and *Mancini* "when an entity engaged in wrongful conduct beyond what the relevant statute imposed." *Id*. at *3-4. The court further stated that, "[i]n *Norg*, the city owed a common law duty when it failed to exercise reasonable care in providing emergency medical services[,]" and "[i]n *Mancini*, a duty arose when police officers negligently executed a search warrant." *Id*. at *4.

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals concluded that "DSHS's common law duty arose when it initiated an investigation into Lakeru's AFHs but *failed to adhere to the requirements imposed*

by RCW 70.128 and WAC 388-76-10930." Id. (Emphasis added). The court explained that "[b]y failing to comply with its own regulations set forth in RCW 70.128 and WAC 388-76-10930, DSHS performed a lawful act in a wrongful manner, resulting in harm to Lakeru." Id. (Emphasis added). Thus, the court held "DSHS's affirmative misfeasance gave rise to a common law duty of reasonable care to Lakeru" and "the public duty doctrine does not apply to Lakeru's claims." Id. (Footnote omitted).

DSHS timely sought reconsideration of the Opinion as to just the negligence claim. The court denied that motion. App. B.

V. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Opinion erroneously creates a new and expansive path to tort liability based on a government entity's alleged breach of its licensing and regulatory obligations, contrary to established precedent addressing the public duty doctrine. The Opinion mistakenly relies on *Norg* and *Mancini* for the erroneous proposition that "a common law duty of reasonable care [arises] when an entity engage[s] in wrongful conduct beyond what the

12

relevant statute require[s]." James at *4.

But neither *Norg* nor *Mancini* turned on a government entity's alleged breach of its statutory duties, as is the case here. Rather, *Norg* and *Mancini* are grounded in established common law duties entirely separate from statutory obligations owed by government agency defendants. No such common law duty supports the trustee's negligence claim, which should be barred by the public duty doctrine as the trial court correctly determined.

Additionally, the Opinion conflicts with *Mancini's* reliance on *Robb v. City of Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 427, 295 P.3d 212 (2013), and *Robb's* discussion of misfeasance and the duty owed under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 302B (1965). *See James* at *3. While § 302B can support a common law duty to protect against the criminal acts of a third party where the actor's own affirmative act (*i.e.*, misfeasance) creates or exposes another to the recognizable high degree of risk of harm, no such duty exists in this case because there is no alleged misfeasance perpetrated by DSHS. The Opinion mischaracterizes DSHS's alleged failure

to comply with its own regulations as affirmative misfeasance instead of nonfeasance (i.e., a failure to act).

Moreover, DSHS's alleged misconduct in exercising its statutorily provided discretion in choosing an enforcement remedy cannot amount to executing a lawful act in a wrongful manner. These erroneous holdings threaten to perversely encourage government entities to refrain from taking any action at all in a variety of regulatory contexts on pain of increased tort liability should a misstep allegedly occur or be found later during administrative review.

Finally, the Opinion conflicts with *Norg* and *Zorchenko* because there is no private analogue to DSHS's obligations under RCW 70.128 and WAC 388-76-10930 to license and regulate AFHs. *See* App. C. Thus, the public duty doctrine bars the trustee's negligence claim for this additional reason.

Because the Opinion demonstrates that an ongoing "struggle with the case law" analyzing the public duty doctrine persists in the context of regulatory activities, *see Ehrhart v. King*

14

Cnty., 195 Wn.2d 388, 396, 460 P.3d 612 (2020), further guidance from this Court on its proper application is needed. Accordingly, this Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

A. The Opinion Conflicts with Precedent Applying the Public Duty Doctrine to Regulatory Duties

Numerous appellate cases confirm the continued vitality of the public duty doctrine in the context of state and local government actions. *See*, *e.g.*, *Norg*, 200 Wn.2d at 755-59; *Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 885-86; *Beltran-Serrano*, 193 Wn.2d at 549; *Zorchenko*, 31 Wn. App. 2d at 394-96; *Ghodsee v. City of Kent*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 762, 768-69, 508 P.3d 193 (2022), review granted, cause remanded, 526 P.3d 852 (2023).

In *Norg*, this Court reiterated "the public duty doctrine applies only to claims based on an alleged breach of 'special governmental obligations [that] are imposed by statute or ordinance." 200 Wn.2d at 758 (quoting *Beltran-Serrano*, 193 Wn.2d at 549). "When the defendant in a negligence action is a governmental entity, the public duty doctrine provides that a plaintiff must show the duty breached was owed to him or her in particular, and was not the breach of an obligation owed to the public in general, i.e., *a duty owed to all is duty owed to none.*" *Munich v. Skagit Emergency Commc 'n Ctr.*, 175 Wn.2d 871, 878, 288 P.3d 328 (2012) (Chambers, J. concurring) (emphasis added).

"The policy underlying the public duty doctrine is that legislative enactments for the public welfare should not be discouraged by subjecting a governmental entity to unlimited liability." *Taylor v. Stevens Cnty.*, 111 Wn.2d 159, 170, 759 P.2d 447 (1988).

Courts have repeatedly recognized that the public duty doctrine is a "focusing tool" used to (1) determine whether the defendant owed a duty to the public or a particular individual and (2) "ensure governmental entities may be held liable only 'to the *same* extent as if they were a private person or corporation." Norg, 200 Wn.2d at 758 (quoting *Ehrhart*, 195 Wn.2d at 396) (emphasis in *Norg*).

Under this doctrine, an agency's regulatory functions that improve public welfare do not create duties to protect individual citizens. *Donohoe v. State*, 135 Wn. App. 824, 833, 142 P.3d 654 (2006). If there is no duty owed to an individual, then "no negligence claim may be supported as a matter of law." *Blackwell v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 131 Wn. App. 372, 379, 127 P.3d 752 (2006).

Accordingly, general licensing provisions or procedural acts required by statutes do not give rise to individualized legal duties actionable in tort. *See, e.g., Honcoop v. State,* 111 Wn.2d 182, 193, 759 P.2d 1188 (1988) ("[r]egulatory control over a third party is not sufficient to establish the necessary control which can give rise to an actionable duty"); *Boone v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 200 Wn. App. 723, 742, 403 P.3d 873 (2017) ("the Department's general licensing authority does not create an actionable duty"); *Zapotocky v. Dalton*, 166 Wn. App.

697, 706, 271 P.3d 326 (2012), *review denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1011, 281 P.3d 687 (2012) (discretionary ballot recount procedures under statute did not create a duty); *Donohoe*, 135 Wn. App. at 846 (duty to license nursing homes was owed to the public). DSHS's licensing provisions at issue in this matter likewise do not give rise to an actionable duty of care.

1. DSHS's duties to license and regulate adult family homes are duties based on generally applicable statues and regulations

Norg presents a three-step analysis to determine whether the public duty doctrine applies in a particular case. First, the court "must identify the duty . . . allegedly breached;" second, it must "determine whether that duty is based on a generally applicable statute or an individually applicable common law duty"; and third, "if the duty is based on a statute and owed to the public generally, then the public duty doctrine applies and [the court] must determine whether there are any applicable exceptions." 200 Wn.2d at 759.

Here, the trustee and Court of Appeals both repeatedly identify the duties that DSHS allegedly breached as its duties to license and regulate AFHs that are strictly imposed by RCW 70.128 and regulations promulgated thereunder. See CP 10-11, 54-55, 314-15; James, at *4. These duties are not common law duties owed to individual AFH owners; rather, they are public duties based on statutes and regulations. See, e.g., RCW 70.128.100 ("The department has the authority to immediately suspend a license if it finds that conditions there constitute an imminent danger to residents"); WAC 388-76-10002 (DSHS authority to act in response to noncompliance or violations); WAC 388-76-10945 (DSHS must impose a remedy when violations "present a threat to the health, safety, or welfare of one or more residents").

Consequently, the Opinion errs in concluding that, "by failing to comply with its own regulations set forth in RCW 70.128 and WAC 388-76-10930 . . . DSHS's affirmative misfeasance gave rise to a common law duty of reasonable care to [the AFH owner] Lakeru. Therefore, the public duty doctrine does not apply" *James*, 2025 WL 445070 at *4. This error conflicts with Supreme Court and published Court of Appeals precedent. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

2. DSHS's licensing and regulatory activities are not law enforcement

The Opinion reached the extraordinary and incorrect conclusion that the public duty doctrine is inapplicable to DSHS's licensing activities, in part, by conflating statutory licensing functions with common law duties found in the context of law enforcement. In doing so, the Opinion is contrary to established Supreme Court and published Court of Appeals precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

First, in *Mancini*, this Court considered whether a negligence claim could exist based on police officers' conduct while executing a search warrant. 196 Wn.2d at 864. The Court recognized that "a [common law] duty of reasonable care to refrain from causing foreseeable harm in interactions with others ... applies in the context of law enforcement " *Id.* at 879

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