FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/3/2025 4:38 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

No. 1041594

Court of Appeals No. 86077-1

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NANCY JAMES, CHAPTER 7 TRUSTEE FOR THE BANKRUPTCY ESTATE OF MS. JESSICA I. LAKERU AND MR. AKINWALE A. LAKERU,

and

VIEW POINTE ADULT FAMILY HOME, LLC, A WASHINGTON LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, UBI #603 584 188,

Respondents,

٧.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

# MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.

Kenneth W. Masters, WSB 22278
Mail: 321 High School Road NE, D-3 #362
Office: 241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110

#### INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals correctly followed all existing precedents, including *Norg*, *Mancini*, *Robb*, *Zorchenko*, and *Coffel*. Norg recently reaffirmed that the public duty doctrine did not bar common law negligence claims based on 911-operator *misfeasance*. In 1987, *Coffel* held that the doctrine did not bar common law negligence claims based on a county's regulatory-enforcement *misfeasance*. *Mancini*, *Robb*, and *Zorchenko* are in accord: DSHS may be sued in tort for its arbitrary and capricious *misfeasance*.

No conflicts exist. This Court need not again rehash a settled issue resolved nearly 40 years ago in *Coffel* and so recently reaffirmed in *Norg*. Review is unwarranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Norg v. City of Seattle, 200 Wn.2d 749, 522 P.3d 580 (2023); Mancini v. City of Tacoma, 196 Wn.2d 864, 479 P.3d 656 (2021); Robb v. City of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 427, 295 P.3d 212 (2013); Zorchenko v. City of Fed. Way, 31 Wn. App. 2d 290, 549 P.3d 743, rev. denied, 3 Wn.3d 1026 (2024); Coffel v. Clallam Cnty., 47 Wn. App. 397, 735 P.2d 686 (1987).

### RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Where a Review Administrative Law Judge's 83-page Findings & Conclusions found that DSHS arbitrarily and capriciously shut down two adult family homes and drove their owners who literally did *nothing* wrong into bankruptcy, is the public duty doctrine inapplicable to the bankruptcy Trustee's common law negligence claims based on DSHS's misfeasance?
- 2. Is the answer still yes under all of this Court's precedents, including *Norg*, *Mancini*, and *Robb*?
- 3. Is the answer still yes under other appellate decisions like *Coffel* and *Zorchenko*?
- 4. Is it thus unnecessary to rehash that the public duty doctrine does not apply to common law negligence claims as this Court so recently reaffirmed in *Norg*?
  - 5. Should this Court therefore deny review?

### **FACTS RELEVANT TO ANSWER**

# A. The Court of Appeals correctly states some of the relevant facts, but DSHS does not.

The Court of Appeals' brief decision correctly states some of the relevant facts. App. A at 1-5. To the extent that they depart from that decision, DSHS's fact-claims are largely irrelevant, misleading, or inaccurate. PFR at 5-12. This Court should not rely on them.

For instance, DSHS fails to discuss – or even to cite

– the Review ALJ's 83-page Findings & Conclusions,
which determined that DSHS's misfeasance was arbitrary
and capricious. *Compare* PFR 8 with CP 63, 65-149 (see
BA Appendix). The most relevant specifics of those
Findings are quoted at BA 9-11. Suffice it to say here that
contrary to DSHS's misleading "facts" at PFR 6-7,

medical personnel . . . including one of the resident's treating physicians, and a registered nurse providing that same resident with catheter services, were of the opinion that it was safe and routine for caregivers to provide such limited assistance, such as balloon inflation, after being trained to do so;

. . . the "record did not show that [Lakeru] failed to provide 'care and services' or failed to provide that care and service by 'appropriate professionals'; and

. . . the remedies or sanctions chosen were arbitrary and capricious in light of the law and facts"; so

[DSHS] had an obligation to revisit the facilities to check on compliance prior to its imposition of the Draconian sanctions it did impose here, sanctions that were tantamount to capital punishment. These alternatives underline why the imposed remedies [sic] were arbitrary and capricious.

BA 9-11 (quoting CP 66-67, 145; emphases removed).

Moreover, DSHS fails to acknowledge the Review ALJ's finding that the Lakerus literally did *nothing* wrong. See BA 9-10 (quoting CP 130):

Everyone seemed to agree that inserting the polyurethane drainage tube into the external end of the catheter was a permitted, non-sterile procedure. Therefore, it is difficult to see how inserting a syringe with saline solution into the other side of the V-shaped external catheter to inflate the balloon at the other end was a prohibited, sterile procedure.

The Lakerus thus did *nothing* to justify sanctions (CP 146):

The Department's determination that this Appellant **neglected** two vulnerable adults in her AFH is **reversed**; its finding that Appellant failed to provide "care and services" and to provide them by

"appropriate professionals" to four residents based on their care assessments and NCP's is **reversed**.

Its imposition of summary suspension of admissions and summary suspension or revocation of Appellant's licenses to operate the homes, in light of the entire record and the law, was *arbitrary and capricious*. [Paragraphing & final emphases added.]

B. The appellate decision precisely and carefully follows this Court's precedents and those of other appellate courts.

Contrary to DSHS's rampant hyperbole, the very brief appellate decision (its public-duty-doctrine analysis covers just five double-spaced pages in 14 pt type) precisely and carefully follows this Court's precedents. See App. A at 6-10 (citing and discussing, inter alia, Norg, Mancini, and Robb). It in no way expands – much less departs from – those precedents. Id. It similarly cites and properly applies several other Court of Appeals decisions. Id. (citing, inter alia, Boone v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 200 Wn. App. 723, 403 P.3d 873 (2017)).

There is nothing new in this correct and efficient unpublished opinion. Review is thus unwarranted.

## REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

# A. DSHS's apparent unlabeled summary of argument is baseless.

DSHS begins its Argument with an apparent attempt at a summary, albeit not labeled as such. PFR at 12-15. Virtually nothing in that summary is accurate. The actual law is addressed *infra*.

# B. The appellate decision is wholly consistent with this Court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

In *Norg*, this Court recently reiterated that "the public duty doctrine is inapplicable to common law negligence claims, even if a governmental entity is the defendant." 200 Wn.2d at 759. Specifically, "once the City undertook its response to the Norgs' 911 call, the City owed the Norgs an actionable, common law duty to use reasonable care." *Id.* at 752. Since the Norgs' claim was "based on the City's alleged breach of this common law duty," it was "not subject to the . . . doctrine as a matter of law." *Id*.

This Court's holding was based at least in part on its holding in *Mancini* that, in "a case of affirmative misfeasance, all individuals have a duty to exercise reasonable care." *Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 885-86 (emphasis added). Thus, while four exceptions to the doctrine may sometimes apply, "an enumerated exception is not always necessary to find that a duty is owed to an individual and not to the public at large' because . . . [the] doctrine does not apply to every tort claim against a governmental entity." Norg, 200 Wn.2d at 758 (emphasis added) (quoting Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma, 193 Wn.2d 537, 549, 442 P.3d 608 (2019)). Rather, where (as here) a governmental entity undertakes to act, negligently commits misfeasance, and its acts cause harm, the public duty doctrine does not apply to the common law claim.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "**Misfeasance** . . . **1.** A lawful act performed in an unlawful manner." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1194 (12<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2024).

Remarkably – or perhaps predictably – DSHS fails to directly confront this Court's holdings that the public duty doctrine has *never* applied to common law negligence claims like this one. It also (again) misstates the Trustee's negligence claim, which does not challenge DSHS's breaches of its own regulations (that is just evidence of its misfeasance) but rather asserts that once it decided to act, DSHS had a common law duty to exercise reasonable care. It breached *that* duty – by arbitrarily and capriciously imposing Draconian sanctions on the Lakerus – causing the Lakerus very substantial harm. That is not significantly different from the City's negligence in responding to a 911 call in *Norg*, which is directly on point and controlling.

The sole arguable authority DSHS appears to rely upon (but nowhere discusses) is *Honcoop v. State*, 111 Wn.2d 182, 759 P.2d 1188 (1988), which is inapposite. PFR at 17. There, dairy owners sued the state for failing to enforce its brucellosis regulations. *Honcoop*, 111 Wn.2d

at 184-88. Unlike here, those owners argued a *failure to* enforce the law; by contrast, here the Trustee argues that DSHS's arbitrary and capricious misfeasance caused the harm. Honcoop is thus inapposite. Moreover, Honcoop held that the public duty doctrine applied and that none of its exceptions permitted the owners to sue the State. 111 Wn. at 188-94. Here, the doctrine does not apply, so the exceptions are irrelevant. Norg did not, of course, exist when Honcoop was decided. No conflict exists.

C. The appellate decision is also consistent with all apposite Court of Appeals decisions—particularly *Coffel*, which DSHS once cited, but now continues to ignore on appeal. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

In the trial court, **DSHS admitted** that the public duty doctrine "does not prevent liability where the regulators act and their actions cause an injury." CP 278 (citing *Coffel*, 47 Wn. App. 397). *Coffel* held that liability could attach where governmental officers took affirmative action to prevent plaintiffs from protecting their own property, in part

officers *fail to act*. *Coffel*, 47 Wn. App. 403 ("Certainly if the officers do act, they have a duty to act with reasonable care"). DSHS has precisely the same duty, it acted negligently, and it caused harm.

Yet here – as in the Court of Appeals – DSHS simply ignores *Coffel*, which again is longstanding, directly on point, and controlling authority. It is perhaps troubling that DSHS fails to even cite – much less to distinguish – this apposite authority that is directly contrary to its position argued at PFR 24-27. Yet that may be even less troubling than its assertions that it has no duty to exercise reasonable care when destroying adult family homes that provide essential medical services to vulnerable spinal-cord-injury patients. *Norg* and *Coffel* hold otherwise.

Further ignoring *Coffel*, DSHS cites *Donohoe* for the proposition that its regulations "do not establish a duty of care to vulnerable adults." PFR 22 (citing and quoting

**Donohoe v. State**, 135 Wn. App. 824, 142 P.3d 654 (2006)). This is correct, but irrelevant here. *No one* has asserted that DSHS regulations create a duty of care owed to the Lakerus. Rather, the Trustee and the appellate court affirm that when DSHS chose to enforce its regulations by imposing arbitrary, capricious, and Draconian sanctions – casting aside its own regulatory processes – it owed the targets of its volatile and imprudent actions a duty of reasonable care. **Donohoe** says nothing to the contrary.

Yet DSHS argues for a new – highly expanded – public duty doctrine, claiming that this Court's clear precedents holding that the doctrine does not apply in common law negligence actions should be limited solely to suits involving "law enforcement." PFR 20-24 (citing, *inter alia*, *Mancini*, *Beltran-Serrano* & *Donohoe*). None of these cases – much less *Norg*, which did not involve law enforcement – limits this Court's holdings that the public duty doctrine does not apply to *any* common law

negligence claims. Nor does DSHS offer any principled basis for making such a distinction. And as noted *supra*, *Norg* and *Coffel* are to the contrary.

"core Moreover, the of [Beltran-Serrano's] negligence claim [was] that [an officer] unreasonably failed to follow police practices" by escalating (rather than deescalating) a dangerous situation, resulting in the officer shooting him. *Beltran-Serrano*, 193 Wn.2d at 544. The core of the Trustees' claim is that DSHS agents unreasonably (indeed, arbitrarily and capriciously) ignored its own regulatory guidelines designed to *deescalate* rather than to escalate perceived conflicts, sidestepping them to reach the harshest possible sanctions, and abruptly terminating the Lakerus' businesses. Again, DSHS fails to proffer any principled basis on which to distinguish this case from **Beltran-Serrano**.

DSHS also fails to confront the key distinction between nonfeasance and misfeasance, as it did in the

Court of Appeals. See, e.g., Reply at 7-8 (citing *Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 885-86; *Robb*, 176 Wn.2d at 439). As another appellate court recently recognized, this crucial distinction is dispositive:

In the public duty doctrine context, Washington cases distinguish between "misfeasance" and "nonfeasance." [*Robb*, 176 Wn.2d at 439; *Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 885-86.] Zorchenko concedes that the City did not owe a duty based on affirmative misfeasance because Officer Giger's actions did not directly cause the harm to him. [See *Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 885-86.]

**Zorchenko**, 31 Wn. App. 2d at 397 & n.6 (citations altered). This Court's denial of review reconfirms that **Zorchenko** properly follows its precedents.

But here, DSHS argues (for the first time anywhere) that it did not *commit* misfeasance. PFR at 24-27. It focuses on the *evidence* of its negligence (failing to employ its own regulations) rather than on its *actions* giving rise to its duty: arbitrarily and capriciously imposing the severest possible sanctions, eschewing its own processes,

destroying the Lakerus' businesses, and recklessly placing their vulnerable spinal-cord-injury patients at grave risk. Its duty arose from its harmful *actions*, not from a failure to act.

As *Coffel* makes clear – and DSHS admitted in the trial court – the public duty doctrine "does not prevent liability where the regulators act and their actions cause an injury." CP 278 (relying upon *Coffel*, 47 Wn. App. at 403). Whether DSHS failed to exercise reasonable care is a question of fact for the jury to decide on remand. *See, e.g.*, *Gordon v. Deer Park Sch. Dist. No. 414*, 71 Wn.2d 119, 122, 426 P.2d 824 (1967) ("Whether one who is charged with negligence has exercised reasonable care is a question of fact for the jury"). The remand was appropriate.

DSHS also incorrectly claims there must be a "private analogue" to the governmental *actor*, relying on *Norg*, *Mancini*, and *Zorchenko*. PFR 27-30. *Norg* instead says that the *activity* must be "analogous, in some degree at least" to private *actions*. 200 Wn. 2d at 756. And *Mancini* 

is *contrary to* DSHS's claim, as the officers there were serving a warrant, as to which there is no private analog. But of course, a private analog does exist here: private regulators (in many business contexts) may misperceive that their private contractor's or franchisee's actions failed to comply with required protocols, arbitrarily impose terminal sanctions on them, and then suffer a lawsuit.<sup>3</sup>

As for **Zorchenko**, it does not support this claim either. **Zorchenko** applied the public duty doctrine because that plaintiff alleged nonfeasance, not misfeasance. 31 Wn. App. 2d at 397 & n.6. It is thus inapposite where, as here, misfeasance is alleged.

Moreover, **Zorchenko** does not *hold* what DSHS claims. PFR at 29-30. Rather, that court noted in *dicta* that the plaintiffs *did not dispute* that responding to a motor

<sup>3</sup> Perhaps more importantly, this Court's doctrine does not and should not depend on anyone's ability to conjure up a private analog. Mere imagination is no substitute for

applying the rule of law in a principled fashion.

15

vehicle collision is an exclusive and inherent governmental function or that "no law authorizes private entities to perform comparable functions." 31 Wn. App. 2d at 401. Of course, private actors do respond to car accidents, and tow-truck operators in particular are statutorily required to activate their lights and protect the scene. The *concession* was thus incorrect. But no such "holding" exists: precise private analogs may be common, but they are not required.

# D. DSHS challenges this Court's own settled law rather than presenting an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine.

The State lines up the same old Parade of Horribles it trots out every time this Court says it has a duty of reasonable care, just like every other Washington citizen. PFR 30-31. The sky is falling! The sky is falling!

No, the Court of Appeals has not "expanded" anything, contra id. Rather, it carefully followed **Norg** and this Court's other precedents. It also followed **Coffel**, which has existed for nearly 40 years. Review is unwarranted.

## **CONCLUSION**

This Court should deny review.

The undersigned hereby certifies under RAP 18.17(2)(b) that this document contains **2,627** words.